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Batelco aims to go on doing
what it has been doing well for
nearly 150 years; empowering
people to connect with each other.
As we expand our footprint
internationally, we look forward
to delivering Bahraini expertise
to new locations.

Providing the latest
technologies to
deliver connectivity
everywhere – at home,
at work, in the street,
in the mall, in the
middle of nowhere –
is crucial to our
ongoing success.
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“Batelco is venturing
into new geographies
with the aspiration to
establish the Group as a
leading communications
organisation of international
repute that can stand
alongside the world’s
leading brands.”

In the final month of 2012, Batelco
made the announcement that the
Group was on the brink of major
expansion through the acquisition
of operations from Cable & Wireless
communications which will take
Batelco Group into 11 new markets.
The announcement brings to conclusion
extensive diligent work by Batelco
in line with its remit to grow the Group
in scale as part of its M&A strategy
and in scope as part of its remit to
diversify and strengthen its Product
& Service portfolio.
The major acquisition will give Batelco
a very strong external footprint and
position the Group as one of Bahrain’s
leading organisations and a pioneer in the
regional telecommunications industry.
Batelco is venturing into new geographies
with the aspiration to establish the Group
as a leading communications organisation
of international repute that can stand
alongside the world’s leading brands.
While being focussed on the new
acquisition Batelco will also continue
to invest in Bahrain and the Group’s
established overseas destinations.
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VISION
Transform into a leading,
regional information
communication company
of reference, admired by
customers and business
partners.

OUR STRATEGIC
IMPERATIVES

MISSION

VALUES

We deliver innovation and
value to our customers
in each market, through
competitive communication
solutions and people
excellence from our
Operating Companies.

Our People
We are proud to be Batelco and
keep empowering, appreciating
and motivating others
Teamwork
We support and trust each
other, think win win and work
towards our common vision
Customer Driven
We respect and listen to
our external and internal
customers, serve with a smile,
deliver on our promises and
are responsive to customer
requirements.
Integrity
We are professional, honest
and transparent and keep our
promises.

We are determined to
remain the market leader in
Bahrain and extend our reach
across the MENA region and
internationally. Our strategic
imperatives reflect our goals
to develop a more customerfocused and better performing
company compared to our
industry peers.
• Expedite geographic
expansion with focus on
mobility and broadband
• Accelerate growth in existing
markets
• Differentiate though
customer experience and
value added services
• Excel through personal
leadership
• Support the communities
we live in

Creativity
We encourage new ideas, think
outside the box, are openminded and innovative.
Ownership for Performance
We are accountable and
learn from our mistakes, take
ownership and meet deadlines.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors,
it gives me great pleasure to present
the 31st Annual Report of the Bahrain
Telecommunications Company BSC
and its subsidiaries and affiliates
(The Batelco Group), for the year ended
31st December 2012.
Our 2012 full year financial results were
marked by sound financial figures and
impressive operating performance
at our subsidiaries across the MENA
region with 41% of revenues and 39%
of EBITDA now generated from markets
outside of Bahrain where the Group
continues to focus on strengthening
its performance and reach. For the full
year 2012, the Group reported Gross
Revenues of BD304.7M (US$808.2M)
and Net Profit of BD60.3M (US$160.0M).
The Group ended the year with a strong
balance sheet and financial position; as
of 31 December 2012, Batelco Group had
low debt of BD18.4M (US$48.8M) and
had significant cash and bank balances
of BD95.0M (US$252.0M).
As was noted in previous quarters,
beyond aggressive competition in
the Bahrain market and elsewhere in
the region, our results for 2012 were
also impacted by a number of one off
charges including expenses associated
with an extensive restructuring and
cost rationalization programme at our
Bahrain operations, the benefits of
which include BD20M in annual savings
starting 2014, which will help us to
further strengthen our performance
and financial results as we go forward.
That said despite the decline in

revenue and income year over year,
our profits remained healthy as did our
ability to deliver adequate returns to
shareholders.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
• Gross Revenues of BD304.7M
(US$808.2M) for the year
• Consolidated Net Profit of BD60.3M
(US$160.0M) for the year.
• EBITDA of BD101.8M (US$270.0M)
representing a 33% margin for the full
year.
• Significant cash and bank balances
totalling BD95.0M (US$252.0M) at
year end.
PROPOSED APPROPRIATIONS
Based on the financial results, the Board
of Directors has recommended for the
approval of shareholders, the following
appropriations for the year 2012.
BD millions

2012

2011

Final cash dividends
proposed

14.4

28.8

Interim cash
dividends paid

21.6

28.8

Donations at 2.5%

1.5

2.0

Transfer to general
reserve

6.0

8.0

Bonus shares in the
ratio of one bonus
share for every ten
shares held of the
paid-up capital by
capitalising reserves

14.4

-

“We value our
shareholders’ ongoing
confidence in us and
extend our appreciation
to them for their
continued support for
our strategies.”
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Chairman’s Statement

Batelco Board of Directors will recommend to the
Annual General Assembly of Shareholders a full
year cash dividend of BD36.0M (US$95.5M), at
a value of 25 ls per share, of which 15 ls per
share was already paid during the third quarter of
2012 with the remaining 10 ls to be paid in cash
following the AGM in February 2013. In addition,
the Board of Directors will also recommend
a 10% bonus share issue, awarding one extra
share for every 10 shares held by the Company’s
shareholders.
The actions we’ve taken over the past year, both
in streamlining our operations and planning
for further growth will ensure that the Group
continues to provide shareholders with some of
the highest dividend yields in our industry region
wide, well into the future. Towards this end, we were
delighted to have announced in December 2012
our intention to make a transformative acquisition.
With the addition of CWC’s Monaco and Islands
Businesses, Batelco Group is poised to emerge
as a regional company of international reference
with an innovative portfolio of services and a more
diversi ed revenue stream. We are con dent that
combined with our continued organic growth, this
acquisition, which will be accretive from the outset,
will help to even further bolster pro tability and our
ability to deliver value for shareholders.
The soundness of the Group’s nancial health and
performance were further underscored by the
af rmation of its Investment Grade Credit Rating by
leading global ratings agencies Fitch and Standard
& Poor’s Ratings Services in November and
December of 2012, respectively.
AUDITORS
The Board of Directors will recommend the reappointment of KPMG Fakhro as Batelco’s auditors
for the nancial year ending 31st December 2013.
As a leading organisation in Bahrain, Batelco
appreciates the value of the ongoing support
offered by the Kingdom’s wise leadership. On behalf
of Batelco Board of Directors, management and
staff, I would like to take the opportunity to offer
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our grateful thanks to His Majesty King Hamad bin
Isa Al Khalifa, King of Bahrain, His Royal Highness
Prince Khalifa bin Salman Al Khalifa, The Prime
Minister, and His Royal Highness Prince Salman bin
Hamad Al Khalifa, Crown Prince & Deputy Supreme
Commander.
Thank you to our Shareholders, Teams and
Customers
We value our shareholders’ ongoing con dence in
us and extend our appreciation to them for their
continued support for our strategies. Our growth
strategy and the further development of the Group
are a re ection of the strong leadership by our
executive teams, supported by tremendous efforts
by our employees across all markets to retain
our customers’ loyalties and improve the way we
develop and deliver services. We could not operate
as successfully as we do without this commitment
from them and accordingly on behalf of my
colleagues on the Board of Directors I extend a very
big thank you to all Batelco Group employees.
Most importantly, the loyalty of our very extensive
customer base is what drives us everyday to work
with dedication to ensure the delivery of the very
best products and services for them. Without
customer support we are nothing; we therefore
owe the biggest vote of thanks to our customers in
Bahrain and across our international operations.
We promise them our ongoing commitment in
delivering world class services that meet their
sophisticated communication requirements.
Batelco’s Commitment to CSR Recognized
Our commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility
also continued throughout 2012. More than BD1.6M
was provided in support to sports, social, health
and education related initiatives and charitable
organisations in the Kingdom. Additionally, putting
its talent and market leadership to use, Batelco also
continued to support technology and other related
entrepreneurs in Bahrain through the holding of the
second annual Startup Weekend which presented
the opportunity for aspiring entrepreneurs to

launch new businesses. It also hosted CommTech
during 2012, a rst of its kind seminar and forum
for SMEs that attracted over 600 business
owners and technical experts, and which was held
in order to foster business development in the
Kingdom of Bahrain. In recognition of these and
other community support activities Batelco was
presented with the Gold Award for Excellence
in CSR by the Arab Organisation for Social
Responsibility and Tatweej Academy for Excellence
at their 3rd annual awards ceremony.
Looking forward with Optimism
My role as Chairman is made so much easier due
to the tremendous support I receive from my
colleagues on the Board of Directors. Having such
a strong team is a great advantage and I am very
grateful to each of them, including ex members and
new members, for the efforts they have contributed
during 2012.
The continuous focus by all our people on
improving the way we serve our customers coupled
with nancial discipline, will enable us to pursue
growth and meet our long term objectives.

Hamad Bin Abdulla Al Khalifa
Chairman of the Board
Bahrain Telecommunications Company BSC
22nd January 2013
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GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S MESSAGE

We are extremely pleased with the
strides we have made during 2012 and
the foundations we have set for further
building our operations, subscriber
base and presence in both existing and
new markets. The last 12 months have
been the most challenging in terms of
sustaining high levels of profitability but
based on our Q4 performance we ended
the year on a strong note throughout
our operations.
OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
• Subscriber base of 7.8 million, an
increase of 18% YoY. This includes
17% growth in mobile customers
and 52% growth of the broadband
subscriber base;
• Continued diversification of Group
revenues with 41% of revenues and
39% of EBITDA now sourced from
markets outside Bahrain;
• Successful execution of our growth
strategy with announced plans to
acquire equity interest in operations
across 11 new markets from Cable
& Wireless Communications’ (CWC)
to support greater diversification,
revenue and subscriber growth;
• Progress on cost leadership, with the
launch of a restructuring programme,
which aims to deliver savings
estimated at BD20M annually from
2014 onwards;
Our total subscriber base grew to
more than 7.8 million across six
markets (excluding results from Indian
operations) representing 18% growth
year on year with especially strong
results from Jordan and Yemen during
the year and fourth quarter in particular.
We are working hard to support organic
growth whilst continuing to identify
opportunities to acquire new cash
generative businesses with a strong and
growing base of customers.
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Despite ongoing challenges in the
MENA markets and difficult market
conditions worldwide, we successfully
identified and announced a major
acquisition, with the purchase of
operations across 11 new markets from
CWC, which will see the size, scale and
reach of the Group expand significantly.
Through the synergies we hope to
achieve by the pooling of resources,
technologies and expertise, we will also
further enhance our competitiveness
and the strong presence we have
already built and progressed in
2012 across our existing markets of
operation. This includes reinforcing our
market position in Bahrain, where we
remain the leaders across a significant
spectrum of communications services,
as well as the strengthening of our
operations in overseas markets, where
we are continuing to grow and build
market share.
CONTINUED GROWTH OF THE
MOBILE AND BROADBAND
SUBSCRIBER BASE
Mobile subscriber numbers grew 17%
year over year and 5% quarter on
quarter. This increase was supported
by strong performance in Jordan and
Yemen as well as success in Bahrain
in maintaining market share, despite
aggressive competition. The fourth
quarter in particular saw important
gains with Bahrain reporting a 3%
increase in its mobile subscriber
base, underscoring the success of its
promotions and customer retention
efforts, in addition to growth and
steady results from Yemen and Jordan,
respectively. Broadband customers for
the year also increased by an impressive
52% year over year and by 18% since
the third quarter with results again
supported by progress in Bahrain and
Jordan and steady results from Kuwait
and Saudi Arabia.

“On behalf of every
member of Team
Batelco I offer a
huge vote of thanks
to our customers who
continue to choose our
products and services.”
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Group Chief Executive’s Message

ONGOING GROWTH AND DIVERSIFICATION
OVERSEAS
In 2012, as noted, the Group companies in overseas
markets continued to perform well, grow and
support the strategy of diversi cation being
pursued. For the year, contributions from operations
outside of Bahrain increased both as a percentage
of revenues and EBITDA. At year end 2012, 41% of
revenues and 39% of EBITDA were sourced from
overseas markets, helping to partially offset the
effects of intense competitive pressures in Bahrain.
JORDAN: 2012 was a landmark year for Umniah,
in Jordan, which delivered 3% growth in its mobile
subscriber base, following the launch of 3.75G
services across the Kingdom. Exceeding plan and
expected customer demand, more than 122,000 3G
subscribers were added during 2012, bringing the
company’s mobile subscriber base to 2.4 million
customers. Even greater uptake of the service is
expected through 2013 with the continued rollout
Kingdom-wide. These results not only served to
reinforce Umniah’s growing market leadership but
also af rm the Group’s belief and commitment
to the Jordanian market where it has made
signi cant investments including the purchase of
the 3G license for which it paid JD50M (US$70M)
in January of 2012. Similarly positive results
were reported by Umniah for xed and wireless
broadband subscriber growth. The company posted
an impressive increase of 521% year over year and
a 62% rise quarter on quarter.
KUWAIT: Batelco’s subsidiary Qualitynet, which
delivers total ICT solutions, remains the market
leader in Kuwait’s Data Communications and
Internet Services industry. In 2012, it maintained
market share and position delivering steady results
and ending the year with some 39,000 customers.
OTHER JVs: Sabafon (Yemen), in which the Group
has a minority shareholding, returned to growth in
2012 following stabilization of the country’s political
situation and the rationalization of the customer
base, which was completed in the rst quarter
and served to exclude non-active sim cards. The
company ended the year with a subscriber base
of more than 4.1 million users. This represents
an impressive 33% increase year over year and
9% growth quarter on quarter. Further growth is
expected throughout 2013 and beyond.
Atheeb (Saudi Arabia), in which Batelco holds a
15% stake, made progress in its strategy and the
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shift in its business model during 2012, focusing
on the high margin business segment. While the
near term results of this shift saw a year over year
decline of 11% in voice and data services customers,
the company was successful in adding a signi cant
number of new business customers to keep
numbers steady on a quarter-on-quarter basis and
in terms of enabling the company to grow revenues
as a result of higher value business subscribers
coming to represent a greater percentage of its
customer base.
BATELCO BAHRAIN – INNOVATION,
EXCELLENCE AND EFFICIENCY IN FOCUS
In Bahrain innovation, excellence and ef ciency
remained the core focus. At year end 2012, the
company maintained its market leading position
with a 41% share of the mobile market. This was
supported by strong rates of customer retention,
especially among high value post-paid residential
and business customers, and a strong 3% increase
in mobile subscriber numbers during the fourth
quarter. Nevertheless, year over year, mobile
subscribers saw a 5% decline as a result of ongoing
and aggressive competition and a challenging
regulatory environment. With regard to mobile
broadband subscribers, the year also saw positive
results with year over year growth of 56% and 8%
increase quarter on quarter.
Demand for xed services, as in previous periods,
continued to decline. Fixed broadband and xed
line subscriber numbers reduced by 8% and 5%,
respectively, year over year whilst remaining
stable since last quarter. These results are in line
with industry trends, particularly in the MENA
region where users continue to migrate from xed
broadband and telephony to wireless and mobile
technologies.
Batelco’s market leadership is rooted in our ongoing
efforts to remain as competitive as possible both
from an innovation and customer service stand point
as well as in terms of our operational ef ciency.
As announced in the third quarter of the year, we
have initiated an extensive restructuring, which will
drive savings of BD20M annually from 2014 onwards
and which as we go forward will help to further
streamline and strengthen our business ensuring
that we are always able to deliver the best products,
promotions, service and overall value to customers.
That we continue to maintain market share and the
loyalty of our high value post-paid residential and

business subscribers, quarter after quarter, and
despite tough competition means we are succeeding
and that the value added products, services and care
we give is still the best in the market.
Underscoring its focus on innovation, in 2012,
Batelco inaugurated its ideas Centre, a rst of
its kind facility in the Kingdom, which gives an
advanced look into the future of Information
and Communication Technologies (ICT). The new
ideas Centre features the latest communication
technologies and emerging services still in
development as well as showcasing a broad range
of smart services being developed.
For business customers, a key segment, a range
of new services and facilities were also launched.
Among these was the opening of a state-of-the-art
Customer Experience Centre, another rst of its
kind in Bahrain, aimed at supporting customers and
ensuring they can readily gain advice and access
to the best and broadest range of customized,
integrated solutions to meet their business
requirements.
INTERNATIONAL RECOGNITION
Our commitment to service is underscored
by each of these initiatives among a host of
others. In recognition of these efforts, we were
delighted in 2012 to be presented with the Best
Business Service award for the MENA region at
the annual CommsMEA Awards. This prestigious
award recognises the operator that has provided
unmatched services for its customers throughout
2012. For us, there is no better honour than
one that highlights the signi cant investments
we continue to make in our network and the
development of world class products and services
to ensure that residents of the Kingdom of Bahrain
have access to the latest communications tools.
FOCUSING ON TEAM BATELCO
We believe it is important for employees to continue
to develop themselves and to keep their knowledge
and skills sharp and up to date. We therefore offer
all members of Team Batelco the opportunity of
enhancing their skill sets through a variety of
classroom based and e-learning programmes. We
will continue to invest in our people to ensure they
are equipped to take on the new challenges that lie
ahead of us.
Batelco Group’s executive management teams and

I offer our collective thanks to all our people in
Bahrain and throughout our overseas Operating
Companies for their efforts in driving the growth
and success of our business during 2012. We
urge them to continue cooperating as one family
throughout 2013 as teamwork is a very important
attribute during times of intense competition and
challenging economic environment.
I extend my sincere appreciation to our Chairman,
Shaikh Hamad bin Abdulla Al Khalifa and each
member of the Board of Directors for their
support to me and my colleagues on the executive
management team.
I also offer my gratitude to Batelco’s Senior
Leadership teams at Batelco Bahrain and our JV’s
for their commitment and focus in implementing our
strategies and striving to meet our challenging goals.
Our customers are always our priority; they support
us loyally year after year. On behalf of every
member of Team Batelco I offer a huge vote of
thanks to all our customers who continue to choose
our products and services.
FOCUSED ON DELIVERING GROWTH AND
VALUE IN 2013
We have entered 2013 in a sound nancial
position, continuing to focus on customers and
innovation. We remain committed to identifying
new avenues for growth in order to leverage our
strengths and allow for the expansion of our mobile
and broadband subscriber base and enterprise
solutions, for the bene t of customers, employees
and shareholders alike.
We very much look forward to the year ahead and
the opportunities that our newly expanded Group
will be addressing. It promises to be a very exciting
time for the Batelco Group as we establish our
Bahraini company as an iconic major organisation in
the region and a telecoms company of reference on
the international arena. We are very enthusiastic to
have the opportunity to deliver Bahraini expertise
and experience in our new geographies.

Mohamed Bin Isa Al Khalifa
Group Chief Executive
Bahrain Telecommunications Company BSC

Batelco
ANNUAL REPORT 2012

15

We very much look forward to
the year ahead and the opportunities
that our newly expanded Group
will be addressing. It promises to
be a very exciting time for the
Batelco Group as we establish our
Bahraini company as an iconic major
organisation in the region and a
telecoms company of reference on
the international arena.
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The continuous focus
by all our people on
improving the way we
serve our customers
coupled with financial
discipline, will enable
us to pursue growth
and meet our long term
objectives.
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BATELCO GROUP EXECUTIVE TEAM
1. Marco Regnier
Group Chief Financial Officer
2. Haytham Fatayer
Group General Manager Strategic Projects
3. Peter Kaliaropoulos
Group CEO Strategic Assignments

8. Dr. Yousif Ahmed Dashkouni
Group General Manager
Business Transformation
9. Ali Sharif
Group Chief Internal Auditor
10. Bernadette Baynie
Group General Counsel

4. Hamid Husain
Group Chief Information Officer
5. Shaikh Mohamed bin Isa Al Khalifa
Group Chief Executive Officer
6. Shaikh Ahmed bin Khalifa Al Khalifa
Group General Manager
Human Resources & Development

2

6

4

8
1

3

5

7

9

10

7. Ahmed Al Janahi
Group Board Secretary & General Manager
Corporate Affairs
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The Batelco Group, listed on the Bahrain Bourse {Bahrain
Telecommunications Company (BATELCO)}, operates across 6 markets
in the MENA region. The Batelco Group serves the consumer, corporate
and wholesale markets in Bahrain and also delivers cutting-edge fixed and
wireless telecommunication services to its customers in Jordan, Kuwait,
Egypt, Saudi Arabia and Yemen.

Batelco’s overseas operations continue to add value to the Group and in 2012 contributed 41% of revenues and
39% of EBITDA. The Group’s successful expansion strategy is establishing the Batelco name as a dependable and
reliable Company throughout the MENA region and has resulted in over 7.8 million subscribers, equivalent to an
18% year-on-year increase over 2011. Following the announcement in December 2012 of the Group’s plans to acquire
operations across 11 markets from Cable & Wireless Communications, the Group is looking forward to reaping the
benefits of greater diversification, depth of service portfolio and people expertise combined with revenue and
subscriber growth.

Umniah - Jordan
Etihad Atheeb Telecom
- Saudi Arabia
Batelco Egypt - Egypt
SabaFon - Yemen
Quality Net - Kuwait
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SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES
JORDAN -

- THE KINGDOM OF BAHRAIN

BAHRAIN - Batelco

JORDAN – Umniah

Batelco (Bahrain Telecommunications Company)
is the leading integrated communication services
provider in the Kingdom of Bahrain and a
company of reference among the region’s key
telecommunication players for innovation and
customer experience.
Batelco serves both the corporate and consumer
markets in the most liberalised and competitive
environment in the MENA region, delivering cuttingedge fixed and wireless telecommunication services
to its customers. Batelco remains the market leader
for telecoms in Bahrain.

Batelco offers end-to-end telecommunications
solutions for its residential, business and
government customers in Bahrain on Next
Generation, all IP fixed and 3.75G wireless networks,
MPLS based regional data solutions and, GSM
mobile and WiMax broadband services across the
countries in which it operates.
www.batelco.com

Batelco features predominantly among the leading
philanthropic companies in the Kingdom of
Bahrain and in 2012 paid out over BD1.6 million to
health, education, sports and cultural initiatives.
The Company aspires to have a positive impact
on all segments of the community and reach all
areas of Bahrain via its annual Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) programme.
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1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Rashid Abdulla
Dr. Ghassan Murad
Muna Al Hashemi
Adel Daylami
Suhaila Al Nowakhda
Nadia Hussain
Hamza Ali
Dr. Abdulla Al Thawadi

9.
10.
11.
12.

Ali Ahmed Mustafa
Abdul Hamid Chehab
Manal Al Sarraf
Ahmed Al Janahi
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- Bahrain Chief Executive Officer
- Bahrain Chief Financial Officer
- General Manager Consumer Division
- General Manager Business Division
- General Manager HR Bahrain
- General Manager Government Relations
- General Manager Strategy and Business Development
- General Manager Business Continuity &
Information Security Management
- Head of Wholesale
- General Manager Network Services
- Bahrain Head of Internal Audit
- Group Board Secretary & General Manager Corporate Affairs

Umniah, a subsidiary of Batelco established in 2005,
continues to demonstrate a strong presence in the
Jordanian telecom market based on a challenger
brand, value driven service portfolio, including mobile,
Internet and business solutions, while keeping abreast
with sector developments and its customers’ various
needs and expectations.
Guided by an ambitious vision, Umniah seeks to
become Jordan’s first choice in the communications
industry by continuing to attract customers through
value propositions driven by innovation and enhanced
customer experience through passionate and talented
people. To that end, the company’s mission focuses
on the ambition to connect in an innovative way every
stakeholder to a richer life experience.
2012 was a landmark year for Umniah which delivered
3.3% growth in its subscriber base, following the
launch of 3.75G services, under the commercial
brand ‘evo’, across the Kingdom. ‘evo’ enables an
exceptional experience for Umniah customers, who
can now enjoy richer and faster mobile internet
through highly customizable packages as well as
online content, applications and services relevant
to their needs and lifestyles. The ease of use and
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compatibility with all devices made ‘evo’ an instant
success.
Accordingly, exceeding plan and expected customer
demand, more than 122,000 3G subscribers were
added during 2012, bringing the company’s mobile
subscriber base to 2.4 million customers, which
represents market share of over 31%. Even greater
uptake of the service is expected through 2013 with
the continued rollout Kingdom-wide. Similarly positive
results were reported by Umniah for fixed and
wireless broadband subscriber growth. The company
posted an impressive five fold increase year over year.
Working to solidify its corporate offerings, Umniah
has exclusively and consistently introduced solutions
to a savvy business community. These services enable
businesses to achieve their goals, as they include
Managed Data Services (MDS): Premium Internet,
Multi Protocol Label Switch Service (MPLS), Global
MPLS and International Private Leased Circuit (IPLC),
in addition to Corporate Voice, and a wide range of
hosting, virtualization and other Cloud Computing
services, being the first telecom operator in the local
market to adopt this technology.
www.umniah.com
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1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

Lara El Khateeb
Ahmed Jaghoub
Khaled Hudhud
Michel Lecavalier
Ihab Hinnawi
Hussein Malhas
Sami Jarrar
Raed Rasheed
Amjad Frouqa
Omar Omoush

- Head of Legal Umniah
- Engineering & IT Director
- Director of Government Relations and Regulatory Affairs
- Chief Financial Officer*
- Chief Executive Officer
- Head of Enterprise & High Value Segment
- Director of HR & Corporate Affairs
- Distribution & Customer Care Director
- Director of Quality, Business Continuity and Information Security
- Director of Marketing
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* Faisal Qamhiyah was CFO from June to December 2012, replacing Klaus Rimmen, the previous CFO.
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Subsidiaries and Affiliates
- KUWAIT
SAUDI ARABIA - Etihad Atheeb Telecom

EGYPT - Batelco Egypt Communications (S.A.E.)

Atheeb, a publicly listed company in Saudi Arabia,
in which Batelco holds a 15% stake, evolved its
business model during 2012 to also focus on the
broadband needs of business customers. Overall
its revenues grew by 14% year on year as at
31 December 2012 by delivering services to
over 100,000 residential and hundreds of
business clients.

Batelco Egypt is wholly owned by the Batelco
Group. The company was established in 2003
with an initial focus on providing worldwide
telecommunication services to corporate and
multinational customers. Today, Batelco Egypt is
focused on providing end to end data solutions
to multi-national companies through the Batelco
Group’s worldwide network.

The company has a broad portfolio of products and
services for both business and retail customers
including but not limited to, VOIP communication
solutions, high speed data services, wireless
broadband internet, fixed line telephony, hosting
cloud solutions, and enterprise connectivity
services leveraging its state-of-the-art new
generation network.

The company’s services are based on Global IPVPN through Batelco’s own infrastructure in the
Middle East and it is further extended across the
globe through alliances with international partners.
Batelco Egypt aims to deliver one-stop-shop
services to cater to all of its customers’ diversified
communication needs.
www.batelco.com/batelco_egypt

www.go.com.sa

KUWAIT - Qualitynet
The Kuwait based subsidiary company of Batelco,
Qualitynet meets the challenges of an era of
convergence by providing total ICT solutions.
Qualitynet remains the clear market leader in the
fixed Data Communications and Internet Services
industry in Kuwait where there are five licensed
ISP’s delivering services. Despite the aggressive
competition, the company continues to maintain
its leading market share with 37% of the total fixed
Broadband customers, during 2012.
Qualitynet’s market share for Data communications
is estimated to be 45% at local level and 55% for
International data services. Qualitynet is the first
telecom operator in Kuwait to interconnect for
terrestrial broadband services with Iraq.

includes structured cabling, cloud & IT security
services for meeting the growing demand from
corporate clients, SME’s and shopping malls.

YEMEN - Sabafon

Qualitynet continues to distinguish itself as
the leader in providing call centre services to
its customers with differential service levels.
Qualitynet has also been voted over four
consecutive years as a Super Brand within the State
of Kuwait.
www.qualitynet.net

During the last three years, the Company has also
launched global managed services in partnership
with global players to serve corporate and multinational companies. Its service portfolio also

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
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- General Manager - Network Services
- General Manager - Consumer Services
- General Manager - Corporate & Business Services
- Chief Executive
- General Manager - HR & Administration
- General Manager - Information Services
- General Manager - Finance

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Sabafon in which Batelco Group has a minority
shareholding of 26.94% equity investment,
returned to growth in 2012 following stabilization
of the country’s political situation and the
rationalization of the customer base. Sabafon
experienced harsh operating conditions over an
18 month period delivering only on-net services
with no ability to terminate to other operators
nor fixed network nor able to provide internet and
IDD services. Despite operational difficulties and
service disruptions, Sabafon ended the year with a
subscriber base of more than 4.1 million users. This
represents an impressive 33% increase year over
year and 9% growth quarter on quarter. Further
growth is expected throughout 2013 and beyond.
Sabafon is a market leading GSM mobile operator
in Yemen and offers national coverage with
over 1000 base stations across the country. The
Company started its operations in 2001 with the
vision to establish a strong, dynamic and flexible
organization to serve and benefit the people of
Yemen with the latest GSM technology and services.
Today, Sabafon provides high quality and innovative
mobile voice and data services and offers value and
quality service plans to its Yemeni customers.
www.sabafon.com
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We take pride in our
networks that have an
excellent reputation as
the most reliable in the
Kingdom of Bahrain.

We have entered 2013 in a sound
financial position, continuing to
focus on customers and innovation.
We remain committed to identifying
new avenues for growth in order to
leverage our strengths and allow
for the expansion of our mobile
and broadband subscriber base and
enterprise solutions, for the benefit
of customers, employees
and shareholders alike.

26
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GROUP CHIEF
AWARDS
SHOWCASE
EXECUTIVE’S MESSAGE

CommsMEA Annual Awards –
Best Business Service
There is no better honour than one that
highlights the significant investments
we continue to make in our networks
and the development of world class
products and services to ensure
that residents of the Kingdom of
Bahrain have access to the latest
communications tools. Accordingly, we
were delighted in 2012 to be presented
with the Best Business Service award
for the MENA region at the annual
CommsMEA Awards. This prestigious
award recognises the operator that has
provided unmatched services for its
customers throughout 2012.

Arab Organisation for Social
Responsibility and Tatweej Academy Gold Award for Excellence in CSR
Batelco was presented with the Gold
Award for Excellence in CSR by the Arab
Organisation for Social Responsibility
and Tatweej Academy for Excellence
at their 3rd annual awards ceremony,
held in Dubai. For the second year,
Batelco was presented with the award
in recognition of its comprehensive and
highly reputable CSR programmes which
have a far reaching and positive impact
on the lives of thousands of residents of
Bahrain. The awards have been designed
to honour and recognise individuals and
organisations that have demonstrated
excellence across a range of fields that
serve the Arab society.

GCC Human Capital Award - Best Performance
Management Strategy

Dubai Lynx International Advertising Festival
Awards – Two Grand Prix & One Gold Award

Batelco won the annual GCC Human Capital Award
for Best Performance Management Strategy at
the 4th Annual GCC HR Excellence Awards 2012.
The Annual GCC HR Excellence Awards held
in conjunction with the Annual Human Assets
Expansion Middle East Summit, is designed to
honour and recognise individuals and organisations
that demonstrate excellence in HR function
and practices. In 2011 Batelco was awarded the
annual GCC Human Capital Award for Best Talent
Management.

Batelco was presented with two Grand Prix and
one Gold award at the Dubai Lynx International
Advertising Festival for the Company’s innovative
and successful advertising campaigns of 2011,
implemented by Bahrain’s FP7. The Dubai Lynx
International Advertising Festival, which is part
of Cannes international advertising festival, is
a yearly event to award creative excellence in
advertising and related fields in the Middle East
and North Africa. This year, Dubai Lynx received
more than 2000 entries from all over the region
including telecom operators and big international
corporations.

High Council for Vocational Training Excellence
Awards – Batelco Wins First Place
Batelco was awarded for its excellent achievements
in the field of training and development. The
Company received first place at the Excellence
Awards from the High Council for Vocational
Training, in recognition of outstanding efforts. The
award was presented to Batelco during the 5th
annual recognition ceremony by H.E The Minister
of Labour Jameel bin Mohammed Humaidan and
received by Batelco Bahrain GM Human Resources
Suhaila Alnowakhda. The award, which was given
in recognition of Batelco’s initiatives in training and
development, took into consideration a number
of factors including training budget, number of
nationals trained, career development programmes,
training hours, and other key criteria.

Such recognition reflects the collective efforts
of all Batelco’s people, across the Group’s
operations. Batelco operates today in an ever
more competitive marketplace and we believe
that it is our people that gives us the edge and
ensures our continued success.

MENA Cristal Awards – Silver and Bronze
Awards
Following their success at the 2011 ceremony
Batelco was presented with four awards at the
2012 MENA Cristal Awards. Batelco took home one
silver and 3 bronze awards for their innovative
and successful advertising campaigns of 2011,
implemented by Bahrain’s FP7. The Awards
ceremony rewards the best advertising creations
with the coveted Cristal Trophy. The Festival
attracts a wide field of communication companies,
advertising agencies, producers, directors, media
survey companies and TV representatives.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

While we are always focussed on
delivering the best for our subscribers
as satisfied customers create the basis
for profitable growth, we are also very
aware of our responsibility to society. In
2012, Batelco paid out more than BD1.6
million to enhance the lives of residents
of Bahrain via health, education, sports
and cultural initiatives.

Some of Batelco’s CSR initiatives
-

30
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Bahrain Diabetes Society
Bahrain Cancer Society
Bahrain Philanthropic Society
Bahrain International Circuit
inJAz Bahrain
BAPS (Bahrain Animal Production Show)
Bahrain Volleyball Association
Bahrain Tennis Federation
Sports Federation for All

- Shaikh Ibrahim bin Mohamed
Al Khalifa Centre
- AWA - Cherry Tree Trot
- University of Bahrain Careers Day
- Startup Weekend Bahrain
- Anti Drug Day
- Rashid Equestrian & Horse Racing Club Batelco Challenge

Batelco
Ramadan Baskets

Bahrain Down
Syndrome Society

Shaikh Mohammed
bin Khalifa bin
Salman Al Khalifa
Cardiac Centre
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GROUP CHIEF
Corporate
Social
EXECUTIVE’S
ResponsibilityMESSAGE
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Batelco
Racing

King Hamad
Golf Trophy

Batelco
Live

Al Areen
Wildlife Park

Crown Prince
International
Scholarship
Programme

Bahrain International
Airshow
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Shaikh Hamad bin Abdulla Al Khalifa
Chairman

6. Mr. Waleed Ahmed Al Khaja
Director

2. Mr. Murad Ali Murad
Deputy Chairman

7. Mr. Abdul Razak Abdulla Al Qassim
Director

3

34

Batelco
ANNUAL REPORT 2012

8. Mr. Ali Yousif Engineer
Director

4. Mr. Nedhal Saleh Al-Aujan
Director

9. Mr. Abdulrahman Yusif Fakhro
Director

5. Mr. Adel Hussain Al Maskati
Director

10. Brig. Khalid Mohammed Al Mannaei
Director

6

9

5
8

3. Dr. Zakaria Ahmed Hejres
Director

4

7

2

1

10
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Shaikh Hamad has been serving on the Board since 09/2006.

Dr. Zakaria Ahmed Hejres has been serving on the Board since 01/2004.

He was appointed by the shareholders in the AGM in 2011, as a non-executive independent
director in the Board in 02/2011 for a period of 3 Years.

He was appointed by the shareholders in the AGM in 2011, as a non-executive independent
director in the Board in 02/2011 for a period of 3 Years.

Shaikh Hamad obtained a Bachelor degree in Aeronautic Science from the University of
King Faisal in 1976 and an MBA in the same field from the US in 1985. He was a founder of
the Bahraini Royal Air Force and became the commander of the Royal Air Force before he
retired in 2003. He was a member of the TRA Board till his appointment to the new post. He
enjoys a wealth of experience, knowledge and professionalism in the business sector.

Dr. Hejres holds a Ph.D. in Economic Development from the University of Durham, United
Kingdom. He also obtained a Master’s Degree in Economic Development from the University
of Strathclyde, Scotland, United Kingdom in 1985. His postgraduate Diploma was in
Economic and Social Planning from the University of Wales, Swansea, United Kingdom with
a Bachelor’s Degree in Sociology from the University of Alexandria in Egypt. Dr. Hejres
past work experience includes being a Director of Economic Planning and the Assistant
Undersecretary for Economic Affairs in the Ministry of Finance and National Economy.
Dr. Hejres also held the position of Deputy Chief Executive in the Economic Development
Board (EDB) for six years from October 2003 until October 2009.

Shaikh Hamad
bin Abdulla
Al Khalifa

Dr. Zakaria
Ahmed Hejres
Director

Chairman

Mr. Murad Ali
Murad
Deputy Chairman

Dr. Hejres is owner of FYI-C Consultancy.

Mr. Murad Ali Murad has been serving on the Board since 03/1990.

Mr. Nedhal Saleh Al-Aujan has been serving on the Board since 01/2004.

He was elected by the shareholders in the AGM in 2011, as a non-executive independent
director in the Board in 02/2011 for a period of 3 Years.

He was appointed by the shareholders in the AGM in 2011, as a non-executive independent
director in the Board in 02/2011 for a period of 3 Years.

Mr. Murad holds a degree from the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA),
UK and is a fellow member of the institute since 1993. Mr. Murad has over 40 years of
experience in the fields of Banking and Finance. He is the Chairman of BBK since 2002
and has held the position of CEO of BBK from 1987 till 2002. In addition, he has held the
chairmanship of BBK’s wholly owned subsidiaries by the Bank. In addition, Mr. Murad also
holds a number of memberships in Community Service Societies such as Chairman of
Human Resources Development Fund in the Banking Sector since 2004 and Member of
Council of Vocational Training in Banking Sector - Bahrain Institute of Banking and Finance
since 1987. Mr. Murad has a special interest in the fields of banking, finance, economics,
and technology.

Mr. Al Aujan is a career banker with an extensive experience of 29 years in all the facets
of banking and held senior positions in different domestic and international banks. He
joined Bahrain Development Bank in 2000 and became the Chief Executive Officer of the
Bank in 2007. Mr. Al Aujan served as a Chairman of Gulf Diabetes Centre and Arabian Taxi
Company as well as being a member of the Board of Directors in Venture Capital Bank,
Retail Arabia (Geant) and Gulf Membrane & Coating Industries WLL.
Mr. Nedhal Saleh
Al-Aujan

Mr. Al Aujan is Chief Executive Officer of Bahrain Development Bank.

Director

Mr. Murad is Chairman of the Bank of Bahrain & Kuwait.

Mr. Abdul Razak
Abdulla Al Qassim
Director

Mr. Abdul Razak Abdulla Al Qassim has been serving on the Board since 02/2008.

Mr. Adel Hussain Al Maskati has been serving on the Board since 02/2005.

He was elected by the shareholders in the AGM in 2011, as a non-executive independent
director in the Board in 02/2011 for a period of 3 Years.

He was elected by the shareholders in the AGM in 2011, as an non-executive independent
director in the Board in 02/2011 for a period of 3 Years.

Mr. Al Qassim holds a Master’s degree in Management Sciences and a Sloan Fellowship
from MIT (Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA). Mr. Al Qassim joined NBB in 1977
after nine years with Chase Manhattan Bank and Standard Chartered Bank. Chairman of
Benefit Company; Chairman of Board of Trustee of Ahlia University; Deputy Chairman of
Eskan Bank; Deputy Chairman and Chairman of Executive Committee of Oasis Capital Bank
B.S.C; Deputy Chairman and Chairman of Executive Committee of the Arab Academy for
Education and Research; Board Member and Chairman of Executive Committee of Bahrain
Telecommunication Company; Board Member of Umniah; Member of the Board of the Crown
Prince International Scholarship Programme. He assumed his present position in 2008.

Mr. Al Maskati holds a Master’s degree in Engineering since 1977. Mr. Al Maskati worked
in the oil Industry from 1978 to 1993. He joined Maskati Commercial Services in 1993, a
company that manages manufacturing plants, trades in Industrial products and manages
investment portfolios. He served on the Board of Directors and Board committees in
Bahrain Petroleum Co (Bapco), Bahrain Tourism Co BSC, United Packaging Industries Co
BSC (c ), Abu Dhabi Paper Mill Co, Bahrain Chamber Of Commerce and Industry, Labour
Market Regulatory Authority, Bahrain Economic Development Board, Gulf Air and National
Health Regulatory Authority.

Mr. Adel Hussain
Al Maskati
Director

Mr. Al Maskati is the Managing Director of Maskati Commercial Services BSC ©.

Mr. Al Qassim is Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of National Bank of Bahrain.
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Board of Directors’ Profiles

Mr. Waleed Ahmed Al Khajah has been serving on the Board since 04/2007.

Mr. Abdulrahman Yusif Fakhro has been serving on the Board since 04/2012.

He was appointed by the shareholders in the AGM in 2011, as an executive director in the
Board in 02/2011 for a period of 3 Years.

He was selected by the Social Insurance Organisation (SIO) as their representative on the
Batelco Board of Directors. He was appointed by the Board of Directors as a Non-Executive
Dependant Director for the remaining term of his predecessor.

Mr. Al Khajah obtained a Bachelor degree in Business Administration from North Texas
State University in 1985. He joined SIO in 2005 after 19 years with the Ministry of Finance.
Mr. Al Khajah served on the Board of Directors and Board committees in Bahrain Tourism
Co BSC, Seef Properties and AMAK & Sons. He enjoys a wealth of experience, knowledge
and professionalism in the business sector.
Mr. Waleed Ahmed
Al Khajah

Mr. Al Khajah is Executive Director in SIO.

Director

Mr. Fakhro studied commerce at the University of Cairo and has more than 47 years
experience in the business, investment and insurance sector.

Mr. Abdulrahman
Yusif Fakhro
Director

Director

Mr. Fakhro is presently serving as Chairman of Bahrain Commercial Facilities Company
(BSC) and Yusif bin Yusif Fakhro Group of Companies.

Mr. Ali Yousif Engineer has been serving on the Board since 02/2008.

Brigadier Khalid Mohammed Al Mannaei has been serving on the Board since 08/2012.

He was elected by the shareholders in the AGM in 2011, as a non-executive independent
director in the Board in 02/2011 for a period of 3 Years.

He was nominated by Amber Holding Company as their representative on the Batelco Board
of Directors. He was appointed by the Board of Directors as a Non-Executive Dependant
Director for the remaining term of his predecessor.

Mr. Engineer obtained a Bachelor degree in Business Administration from United Kingdom
in 1967. Mr. Engineer has been chairing boards of a number of family owned businesses
and establishments and is a board member of TRAFCO and Vice Chairman of Arabian Taxi
Company. He enjoys a wealth of experience, knowledge and professionalism in the
business sector.
Mr. Ali Yousif
Engineer

He has served on the board of various companies including Bahrain Kuwait Insurance
Company (BSC), BMMI, National Motors, Bahrain Flour Mills and Seef Properties (BSC). He
is also a member of the Board of Directors of SIO, Innovest (BSC) and American Mission
Hospital.

Mr. Engineer is Chairman of several family owned businesses.

Brig. Khalid
Mohammed
Al Mannaei
Director

Brig. Al Mannaei holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration from Sheffield Hallam
University (UK). He joined the Military Pension Fund in February 2011 following a long
service with Bahrain Defense Force having served for around 30 years and been promoted
during this period to become a soldiers’ affairs in charge in October 2001. He is a Member
of the Board of Directors of Osool (Assets Management Co.); vice president of the Marina
Club Board; a member of the Board of Directors in Naseej Company; a main participator in
IT system development for the BDF; a main participator in developing and enhancing the
value of soldiers’ affairs for the BDF; a main participator in the setting up and development
of Laws and Regulations related to the Military Pension fund and one of the founders of the
GCC Extended Pension Coverage committee.
Brig. Al Mannaei is General Manager of the Military Pension Fund.
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* Latest financial statements are available on www.batelcogroup.com
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Independent Auditors’ Report

BD’000

as at 31 December 2012

Independent auditors’ report to the shareholders
Bahrain Telecommunications Company BSC
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain
Report on the consolidated
statements

nancial

We have audited the accompanying
consolidated
nancial statements
of
Bahrain
Telecommunications
Company BSC (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”),
which comprise the consolidated
statement of nancial position as at 31
December 2012, and the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income,
changes in equity and cash ows
for the year then ended, and notes,
comprising a summary of signi cant
accounting
policies
and
other
explanatory information.

Responsibility of the board of
directors for the consolidated
nancial statements
The board of directors is responsible
for
the
preparation
and
fair
presentation of these consolidated
nancial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting
Standards, and for such internal control
as the board of directors determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated nancial statements that
are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated nancial
statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing.
Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated nancial statements
are free from material misstatement.
An
audit
involves
performing
procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated nancial statements.
The procedures selected depend on our
judgment, including the assessment of

the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated nancial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, we
consider internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated
nancial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating
the
appropriateness
of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated
nancial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is suf cient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated
nancial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the consolidated
nancial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2012, and its
consolidated
nancial performance
and its consolidated cash ows for
the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting
Standards.
Report on other regulatory
requirements
As required by the Bahrain Commercial
Companies Law we report that
the
Company
has
maintained
proper accounting records and the
nancial statements
consolidated
are in agreement therewith; the
nancial information contained in the
chairman’s report is consistent with
the consolidated nancial statements;
we are not aware of any violations of
the Bahrain Commercial Companies

22 January 2013

Law or the terms of the Company’s
memorandum
and
articles
of
association having occurred during the
year that might have had a material
adverse effect on the business of the
Company or on its nancial position;
and satisfactory explanations and
information have been provided to us
by the management in response to all
our requests.

Note
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible asset
Investment in associates
Deferred tax asset
Available-for-sale investments

5
6
7
8
14
9

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Investment classi ed as held- for- sale
Inventories
Available-for-sale investments
Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

9
9
10
11

Total current assets
Total assets

KPMG Fakhro 5th Floor,
Chamber of Commerce Building,
P.O. Box 710, Manama,
Kingdom of Bahrain.

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital
Statutory reserve
General reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve
Investment fair value reserve
Retained earnings

16
17
17

2012

2011

185,865
124,377
50,880
77,417
2,298
31,640

185,019
124,682
24,308
78,580
2,018
16,703

472,477

431,310

2,630
3,770
115,569
94,922

46,473
1,869
71,762
107,893

216,891

227,997

689,368

659,307

144,000
76,847
39,444
361
(2,403)
256,099

144,000
76,719
30,000
787
(3,397)
257,731

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interest

514,348
5,833

505,840
12,851

Total equity (Page 46)

520,181

518,691

2,029
14,388
3,634

2,555
4,193

20,051

6,748

145,051
4,085

133,868
-

149,136

133,868

169,187

140,616

689,368

659,307

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Deferred tax liability

12
15
14

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings

12
15

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

The consolidated nancial statements, which consist of pages 43 to 72 were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 January 2013
and signed on its behalf by:

Sh. Hamad bin Abdulla Al Khalifa
Chairman

Murad Ali Murad
Deputy Chairman

The accompanying notes 1 to 28 form an integral part of these consolidated nancial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
BD’000

for the year ended 31 December 2012

2012

2011

304,710

326,972

(116,766)
(59,451)
(36,373)
(26,710)

(115,817)
(50,930)
(37,985)
(34,203)

(239,300)

(238,935)

65,410
2,563
(647)
1,599

88,037
3,257
(262)
(3,124)

Pro t before taxation
Income tax expense

68,925
(3,582)

87,908
(4,053)

Pro t for the year

65,343

83,855

Note
19

REVENUE
EXPENSES
Network operating expenses
Staff costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Other operating expenses

20

21

Total expenses
Results from operating activities
Finance and other income
Finance expenses
Share of pro t/ (loss) of associates (net)

22
8

BD’000

for the year ended 31 December 2012

Note

2012

2011

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers
Net cash paid to suppliers
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees

280,334
(122,807)
(53,031)

300,118
(128,765)
(48,362)

Net cash from operating activities

104,496

122,991

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, equipment and intangibles
Payments in respect of rights share issue
Receipts from/( payments to) investee company
Receipts from associate
Net proceeds from sale and maturity of investments
Interest and investment income received

(63,783)
(17,713)
2,781
2,762
2,245

(31,554)
(2,781)
1,930
4,238
1,069

Net cash used in investing activities

(73,708)

(27,098)

(59,874)
(657)
18,482
(1,667)

(69,117)
(2,117)

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation differences
Investment fair value changes

(570)
994

(503)
(11,607)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid
Interest paid
Borrowings (net)
Payments to charities

Other comprehensive income for the year

424

(12,110)

Net cash used in nancing activities

(43,716)

(71,234)

(Decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents

(12,928)

24,659

65,767

Total comprehensive income for the year

71,745

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Pro t for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interest
23

Basic earnings per share (Fils)

60,340
5,003

80,014
3,841

65,343

83,855

60,908
4,859

67,818
3,927

65,767

71,745

41.9

55.6

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

11

105,095

80,436

92,167

105,095

The accompanying notes 1 to 28 form an integral part of these consolidated nancial statements.

The consolidated nancial statements, which consist of pages 43 to 72 were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 January 2013
and signed on its behalf by:

Sh. Hamad bin Abdulla Al Khalifa
Chairman

Murad Ali Murad
Deputy Chairman

The accompanying notes 1 to 28 form an integral part of these consolidated nancial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements
BD’000

for the year ended 31 December 2012

1

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share
capital

Statutory
reserve

General
reserve

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

At 1 January 2012

144,000

76,719

30,000

787

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

2012

Investment
fair value
reserve
(3,397)
-

Retained
earnings

Total

Non controlling
interest

257,731

505,840

12,851

518,691

60,340

60,340

5,003

65,343

Total
equity

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation differences
Investment fair value changes

-

-

-

(426)
-

994

-

(426)
994

Total other comprehensive income

-

-

-

(426)

994

-

568

(144)

424

Total comprehensive income
for the year

-

-

-

(426)

994

60,340

60,908

4,859

65,767

Final dividends declared for 2011
Donations declared for 2011
Transfer to statutory reserve (net)
Transfer to general reserve
Interim dividends declared for 2012
Dividends to non-controlling interest

-

128
-

9,444
-

-

-

(28,800)
(2,000)
(128)
(9,444)
(21,600)
-

(28,800)
(2,000)
(21,600)
-

(11,877)

(28,800)
(2,000)
(21,600)
(11,877)

-

128

9,444

-

-

(61,972)

(52,400)

(11,877)

(64,277)

144,000

76,847

39,444

361

At 31 December 2012

(2,403)

256,099

514,348

(144)
-

5,833

(570)
994

520,181

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

2011
At 1 January 2011

Share
capital

Statutory
reserve

General
reserve

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

REPORTING ENTITY

Bahrain Telecommunications Company BSC (“the Company”, “the Parent”) is a public shareholding company registered under
commercial registration number 11700 in the Kingdom of Bahrain in the year 1981 and is engaged in the provision of public
telecommunications and associated products and services. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2012 comprise the financial statements of the Company, and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually
as “Group entities”) and the Group’s interest in associates. The registered office of the Company is P.O. Box 14, Manama, Kingdom of
Bahrain. The subsidiaries and associate of the Group included in these consolidated financial statements are as follows:
Company

Country of incorporation

Subsidiaries
Batelco Middle East Holding Co. BSC (c)
Arabian Network Information Services WLL*
BMIC Limited
Batelco Egypt Communications (S.A.E.)
Batelco Middle East Jordan LLC
Batelco International Company BSC (c)
Batelco International Group Holding Limited
Umniah Mobile Company PSC
Batelco Jordan PSC
Urcell Telecom & Technologies Services LLC
Qualitynet General Trading and Contracting Company WLL

Kingdom of Bahrain
Kingdom of Bahrain
Mauritius
Arab Republic of Egypt
Kingdom of Jordan
Kingdom of Bahrain
Bailiwick of Jersey
Kingdom of Jordan
Kingdom of Jordan
Kingdom of Jordan
State of Kuwait

Associate
Yemen Company for Mobile Telephony Y.S.C

Republic of Yemen

Shareholding (%)

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
96
96
96
44
26.94

* Liquidated on 25 March 2012

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Investment
fair value
reserve

Retained
earnings

a) Statement of compliance

Total

Non controlling
interest

Total
equity

144,000

76,428

15,000

1,376

8,210

259,977

504,991

11,824

516,815

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

-

80,014

80,014

3,841

83,855

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation differences
Investment fair value changes

-

-

-

(589)
-

(11,607)

-

(589)
(11,607)

86
-

(503)
(11,607)

Total other comprehensive income

-

-

-

(589)

(11,607)

-

(12,196)

86

(12,110)

Total comprehensive income
for the year

-

-

-

(589)

(11,607)

80,014

67,818

3,927

71,745

Final dividends declared for 2010
Donations declared for 2010
Transfer to statutory reserve (net)
Transfer to general reserve
Interim dividends declared for 2011
Dividends to non-controlling interest

-

291
-

15,000
-

-

-

(36,000)
(2,169)
(291)
(15,000)
(28,800)
-

(36,000)
(2,169)
(28,800)
-

(2,900)

(36,000)
(2,169)
(28,800)
(2,900)

-

291

15,000

-

-

(82,260)

(66,969)

(2,900)

(69,869)

144,000

76,719

30,000

787

(3,397)

257,731

505,840

12,851

518,691

At 31 December 2011

for the year ended 31 December 2012

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”), and the requirements of the Bahrain Commercial Company Law and Central Bank of Bahrain’s Disclosure Standards.
b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for available-for-sale
investments that are stated at their fair values.
c) Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Bahraini Dinars (“BD”), which is the Company’s functional currency.
All financial information presented in Bahraini Dinars has been rounded to the nearest thousand (BD’ 000) except when otherwise
indicated.
d) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

The accompanying notes 1 to 28 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2012

for the year ended 31 December 2012

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Information about significant areas of assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment within the next financial year and critical judgements in applying accounting policies on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements are described in the following notes:

•
•
•
•
•

Note 3 h) & 9

– valuation of investments

Note 3 j)

– provisions

Note 3 k)

– impairment

Note 3 m)

– utilization of tax losses

Note 6

– measurement of the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units

(iii) IFRS 7 and IAS 32 on offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (2011)
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (amendments to IFRS 7) introduces disclosures about the
impact of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2013 and interim periods within those annual periods. Based on the new disclosure requirements the Group
will have to provide information about what amounts have been offset in the statement of financial position and the nature and
extent of rights of set off under master netting arrangements or similar arrangements.
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (amendments to IAS 32) clarify the offsetting criteria IAS 32 by explaining
when an entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set off and when gross settlement is equivalent to net settlement.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and interim periods within those annual
periods. Earlier application is permitted.

e) Amendments and interpretations effective from 1 January 2012
The following amendments which became effective as of 1 January 2012, are relevant to the Group:

(i) Improvements to IFRSs (2011)
Improvements to IFRS issued in 2011 contained numerous amendments to IFRS that the IASB considers non-urgent but necessary.
‘Improvements to IFRS’ comprise amendments that result in accounting changes to presentation, recognition or measurement
purposes, as well as terminology or editorial amendments related to a variety of individual IFRS standards. The improvements
have been made in IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements, IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 32 - Financial
Instruments: Presentation and IAS 34 - Interim Financial Reporting. There were no significant changes to the current accounting
policies of the Group as a result of these amendments.
f)

New Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1
January 2012, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Those which may be relevant to
the Group are set out below.

(i) IAS 1 - Presentation of items of other comprehensive income
The amendments to IAS 1 require that an entity present separately the items of other comprehensive income that would be
reclassified to profit or loss in the future if certain conditions are met from those that would never be reclassified to profit or
loss. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning after 1 July 2012 with an option of early application.
The Group is not expecting a significant impact from the adoption of this amendment.

(ii) IAS 28 (2011) - Investment in Associates and Joint ventures
IAS 28 (2011) supersedes IAS 28 (2008). IAS 28 (2011) makes the following amendments;

•
•

Associates held for sale: IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations applies to an investment, or
a portion of an investment, in an associate or a joint venture that meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale. For any
retained portion of the investment that has not been classified as held for sale, the entity applies the equity method until
disposal of the portion held for sale. After disposal, any retained interest is accounted for using the equity method if the
retained interest continues to be an associate or a joint venture, and
On cessation of significant influence or joint control, even if an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the entity does not re-measure the retained interest.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and is applied retrospectively. The Group is not
expecting a significant impact from the adoption of this amendment.

The Group is not expecting a significant impact from the adoption of these amendments.

(iv) IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. Under IFRS 9 (2009),
financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model in which they are held and the characteristics of
their contractual cash flows. IFRS 9 (2010) introduces additions relating to financial liabilities. The IASB currently has an active
project to make limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 and add new requirements
to address the impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.
The IFRS 9 (2009) requirements represent a significant change from the existing requirements in IAS 39 in respect of financial
assets. The standard contains two primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost and fair value. A
financial asset would be measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, and the asset’s contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All other financial assets would be measured at fair value. The
standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, available-for-sale and loans and receivables.
The standard requires that derivatives embedded in contracts with a host that is a financial asset within the scope of the standard
are not separated; instead the hybrid financial instrument is assessed in its entirety as to whether it should be measured at
amortised cost or fair value.
IFRS 9 (2010) introduces a new requirement in respect of financial liabilities designated under the fair value option to generally
present fair value changes that are attributable to the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income rather than in
profit or loss. Apart from this change, IFRS 9 (2010) largely carries forward without substantive amendment the guidance on
classification and measurement of financial liabilities from IAS 39.
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 with early adoption permitted. The IASB decided to
consider making limited amendments to IFRS 9 to address practice and other issues. The Group has commenced the process of
evaluating the potential effect of this standard but is awaiting finalisation of the limited amendments before the evaluation can
be completed.

(v) IFRS 10 - Consolidated financial statements and IAS 27 - Separate Financial Statements (2011)
IFRS 10 introduces a single control model to determine whether an investee should be consolidated. The Group is not expecting a
significant impact from the adoption of this amendment (see Notes 3 (a)). The standard is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013.

(vi) IFRS 12 - Disclosures of interests in other entities
IFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all the disclosure requirements about an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. It requires the disclosure of information about the nature,
risks and financial effects of these interests.
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The Group is currently assessing the disclosure
requirements for interests in subsidiaries in comparison with existing disclosures.
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Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2012

for the year ended 31 December 2012

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(vii) IFRS 13 - Fair value measurement

(ii) Financial statements of foreign operations

IFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on how fair value is measured, and replaces the fair value measurement guidance
that is currently dispersed throughout IFRS. Subject to limited exceptions, IFRS 13 is applied when fair value measurements or
disclosures are required or permitted by other IFRSs. Although many of the IFRS 13 disclosure requirements regarding financial
assets and financial liabilities are already required, the adoption of IFRS 13 will require the Group to provide additional disclosures.
These include fair value hierarchy disclosures for non-financial assets/liabilities and disclosures on fair value measurements that
are categorised in Level 3.

The assets and liabilities including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition of the Group’s subsidiaries and
associates based outside the Kingdom of Bahrain (“foreign operations”) are translated into Bahraini Dinars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Bahraini Dinars at average
exchange rates prevailing during the year. Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are recognized in
the other comprehensive income and presented in equity as a foreign currency translation reserve.
c) Property and equipment

IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with an option of early adoption. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the standard.

(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The significant accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements by the Group’s entities.
The comparative figures for the previous year has been regrouped, where necessary, in order to conform to the current year’s
presentation. Such regrouping does not affect the previously reported profit, comprehensive income or equity.
a) Basis of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to
govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain economic benefits from its activities. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control effectively ceases.

(ii) Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20 % to 50 % of the voting power of another
entity.
Associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment
includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses. The consolidated financial statements
include the Group’s share of the income and expenses and equity movements of the associates from the date that significant
influence commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds
its interest in an associate, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition cost of the asset. The cost of self constructed
assets includes the following:

•
•
•
•

the cost of materials and direct labour
any other costs directly attributable to bringing an asset to its working condition for their intended use
when the Group has an obligation to remove the assets or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they were located
capitalised borrowing cost

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.
Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major
components) of property and equipment.
Any gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal
with the carrying amount of property and equipment and are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure
will flow to the Group. Ongoing repair and maintinance are expensed as incurred.

(iii) Impairment
Where there has been an indication of impairment in value such that the recoverable amount of an asset falls below its net
book value, provision is made for such impairment. Wherever possible, individual assets are tested for impairment. However,
impairment can often be tested only for groups of assets because the cash flows upon which the calculation is based do not arise
from the use of a single asset. In these cases, impairment is measured for the smallest group of assets (the cash generating unit)
that produces a largely independent income stream, subject to constraints of practicality and materiality.

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
All material Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains or losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
b) Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
retranslated to the functional currency of the Group’s entities at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain
or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period,
adjusted for payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end
of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items and on retranslation are recognised
in profit or loss.
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(iv) Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of a
property and equipment. Assets are depreciated from the date they are available for use or, in respect of self constructed assets,
from the time an asset is completed and ready for service. Freehold land, projects in progress and inventories held for capital
projects are not depreciated. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:
Asset class
Buildings
Network assets & telecom equipment
Motor vehicles, furniture, fittings & office equipment

Estimated useful life (Years)
5 to 45
2 to 25
2 to 10

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values, are reassessed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the year end.
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Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2012

for the year ended 31 December 2012

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

d) Investment property

h) Financial instruments

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both and that is not occupied
by the Group for use in rendering of its services or for administrative purposes. Investment property is measured at cost (using
the cost model), including related transaction costs and borrowing costs incurred for the purpose of acquiring, constructing
or producing a qualifying investment property, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Subsequent
expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
e) Leased assets

(i) Finance leases
Leases for which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are assumed by the Group are classified as finance lease.
Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting
policy applicable to that asset. Depreciation on capitalised leased assets is charged to the income statement in line with the
depreciation policy for similar assets. The corresponding leasing commitments are shown as finance lease obligations within
liabilities. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The
finance charge is calculated using the effective interest method.

(ii) Operating leases
All other leases are considered as operating leases and the annual rentals are charged to the income statement on a straightline basis over the lease term.
f)

Goodwill
Goodwill arises on acquisition of subsidiaries and associates. Goodwill represents the excess of cost of the acquisition over
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity. In
respect of associates, goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment.
Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised but tested for impairment annually
at the balance sheet date.

g) Intangible assets

Financial instruments comprise available-for-sale investments, trade receivables, other receivables, unbilled revenue, cash
and bank balances, amounts due to telecommunications operators, trade payable, other payables and loans and borrowings.
Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, any
directly attributable transaction costs.
The Group initially recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date at which they are originated. Financial assets
and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset
are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and it
does not retain control of the financial asset.

(i) Available-for-sale financial assets
The Group’s investments in equity securities and certain debt securities are classified as available-for-sale (“AFS”) investments.
Purchase and sale of AFS investments are accounted for on the trade date and are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value
of the consideration given including transaction charges associated with the investment.
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses (refer
to note 3(k)), are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented within equity in the fair value reserve. When an
investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to profit or loss. The fair value of AFS investments
is their quoted bid price at the reporting date. AFS investments where there is no quoted market price or other appropriate
methods from which to derive reliable fair values, are carried at cost less impairment.

(ii) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their fair value of services rendered as reduced by appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts. Individual trade receivables are written off when management deems them not
to be collectible.

(iii) Cash and cash equivalents

Intangible assets comprise license fees, trade name & associated assets,non-network software and IRUs.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balance with banks and time deposits which are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash.

(i) Recognition and measurement
License fees, trade name & associated assets and non-network software acquired or incurred by the Group have finite useful
lives and are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Subsequent expenditure
is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other
expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill is recognised in the profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation is recognized in the profit or loss on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets
from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

License fees
Trade name & associated assets,non-network software and IRUs

Estimated useful life (Years)
12 - 15
3 - 15

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values, are reassessed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the year end.
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Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value. Fair value, which is determined for disclosure
purposes, approximates the nominal value at the reporting date.

(v) Loans and borrowings

(ii) Amortisation

Asset class

(iv) Trade and other payables

Group initialy recognises loans and borrowings on the date they are originated. Group derecognises loans and borrowings when
its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
These are initialy recognised at fair value less any directly attributable transaction cost. Subsequent to initial measurement
these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(vi) Share capital
The Company has one class of equity shares. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised
as a deduction from equity.
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for the year ended 31 December 2012

for the year ended 31 December 2012

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i)

l)

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and includes
expenditure incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less selling expenses.

j)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the year end and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

k) Impairment

(i) Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A
financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost
is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by
reference to its fair value. Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining
financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
All impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss. Any cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset
are recognised by transferring the cumulative loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in
the fair value reserve in equity, to profit or loss. An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-forsale financial assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss. For available-for-sale financial assets
that are equity securities, the reversal is recognised in other comprehensive income.

(ii) Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for
use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment
testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are
largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). The goodwill acquired in
a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In
respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss
had been recognised.
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Employee benefits

(i) Local employees
Pension rights and other social benefits for the Group’s employees are covered by the applicable social insurance scheme of
the countries in which they are employed are considered as a defined contribution scheme. The employees and employers
contribute monthly to the scheme on a fixed-percentage-of-salaries basis.

(ii) Expatriate employees
Expatriate employees on limited-term contracts are entitled to leaving indemnities payable under the respective labour laws
of the countries in which they are employed, based on length of service and final remuneration. Provision for this unfunded
commitment has been made by calculating the notional liability had all employees left at the reporting date.

(iii) Employee savings scheme
The Company has a voluntary employees saving scheme. The employees and employers contribute monthly on a fixedpercentage-of-salaries-basis to the scheme.
m) Tax
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the profit or loss except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in equity or
other comprehensive income.

(i) Current tax
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

(ii) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to
be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different
tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be
realised simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
temporary difference can be realised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay the related dividend is recognised.
n) Revenue
Revenue represents the value of fixed or determinable consideration that has been received or is receivable and includes
revenue from revenue sharing arrangements entered into with national and international telecommunication operators in
respect of traffic exchanged.
Revenue for services rendered is stated at amounts invoiced to customers. Fees for installation and activation are recognised
as revenue upon activation. All installation and activation costs are expensed as incurred. Monthly service revenue received
from the customer is recognised in the period in which the service is delivered. Airtime revenue is recognised on the usage
basis. Revenue from data services is recognised when the Group has performed the related service and, depending on the
nature of the service, is recognized either at the gross amount billed to the customer or the amount receivable by the Group
as commission for facilitating the service. Revenue from handset and other equipment sales is recognised when the product is
delivered to the customer.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Deferred revenue related to unused airtime is recognised when utilised by the customer. Upon termination of the customer
contract, all deferred revenue for unused airtime is recognised in the profit or loss.
o) Earnings per share
The Group presents basic earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the period.
p) Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All
operating segments’ operating results are reviewed by the Group’s Board of Directors to make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available (see note 27).
q) Asset held-for-sale

(i) Classification
The Group classifies non-current assets as held-for-sale if its carrying amount is expected to be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable in accordance with IFRS 5 “Noncurrent Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

(ii) Measurement
Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale are measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
If the criteria for classification as held-for-sale are no longer met, the entity shall cease to classify the asset as held-for-sale
and shall measure the asset at the lower of its carrying amount before the asset was classified as held-for-sale, adjusted for any
depreciation, amortization or revaluations that would have been recognised had the asset not been classified as held-for-sale
and its recoverable amount at the date of the subsequent decision not to sell.

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•
•
•

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are
included throughout these consolidated financial statements.
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.
The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly
to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards
and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their
roles and obligations.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company oversees how management monitors compliance with the
Group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation
to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Group’s Internal Audit Department.
Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which
are reported to the Audit Committee.
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The Group has also established a centralised Group treasury function which works under the overall supervision of the Board
of Directors of the Company and provides support to the Group for funding, foreign exchange, interest rate management and
counterparty risk management. Treasury operations are conducted within a framework of policies and guidelines authorised
and reviewed annually by the Company’s Board of Directors. The Group’s accounting function provides regular reports of the
treasury activity to the Board of Directors. The Group’s internal auditors review the internal control environment regularly. There
has been no significant change during the financial year, or since the end of the year, to the types of financial risks faced by the
Group or the Group’s approach to the management of those risks.
a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations, and arises principally and materially from the Group’s trade receivables, other receivables, unbilled
revenue, debt investment securities and cash at bank.

(i) Trade receivables
The Group’s trade receivables are spread among customer’s segmentation and geographical areas. The Group has an established
credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment
and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Credit limits are established for each customer, which represents the maximum
open amount without requiring approval. Strict credit control is maintained for both credit period and credit limits, both of which
are monitored continuously by management. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact
with the Group only on a prepayment basis. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to
the Group’s customer base being large and unrelated. The majority of the Group’s trade receivables are due for payment within
90 days and largely comprise amounts receivable from consumers and business customers. The Group obtain collaterals for
providing services to some residential customers.
The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade receivables.
The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a
collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet
identified. The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.
Management believes there is no further credit risk provision required in excess of the normal impairment on receivables (refer
to note 10).

(ii) Investments and cash and bank balances
The Group manages credit risk on its investments and cash and bank balances by ensuring that these are made only after credit
evaluation of the issuer. Term deposits are placed with commercial banks after credit evaluation of those banks. The Group limits
its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities which offers risk free returns and only with counterparties that
have a sound credit rating.

(iii) Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets (excluding equity investments) represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Trade receivables
Unbilled revenue
Other receivables
Available-for-sale investments
Cash at bank

2012

2011

51,809
2,044
57,093
4,337
94,835

49,987
1,435
12,497
4,337
107,774

210,118

176,030
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(iv) Customers’ accounts

c) Market risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2012 classified by operating segment sharing common economic
characteristics with respect to credit risk is as follows:

Operating segment
Bahrain
Jordan
Other countries

2012

2011

30,651
1,973
5,882

26,330
1,557
8,613

38,506

36,500

(v) Amounts due from telecommunications operators
The maximum exposure to credit risk for amounts due from telecommunications operators at 31 December 2012 by type of
customer was:

Customer segment
International operators
Local operators

2012

2011

2,438
10,865

3,606
9,881

13,303

13,487

b) Liquidity risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect
the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. The Group incurs financial
liabilities, in order to manage market risks. All such transactions are carried out within the guidelines set by the Group Treasury
Function.

(i) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group
is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional
currencies of Group entities, primarily the Bahraini Dinar and Jordanian Dinar, (which are pegged to the US Dollar) and Kuwaiti
Dinar. The Group’s exposure to currency risk is limited as the majority of its investments, due to and from international operators
are denominated in US Dollar or denominated in currencies which are pegged to US Dollar. Consequently, the currency risk of
the Group is limited.
The Group seeks to manage currency risk by continually monitoring exchange rates and by maintaining an adequate level of
foreign currencies to cover its expected commitment to international telecommunication operators. These amounts are placed
significantly in short-term fixed deposit accounts. In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies, the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot
rates when necessary to address short-term imbalances.
The Group’s investment in its subsidiaries is not hedged as those currency positions are considered to be long-term in nature.
In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, considering the nature of its financial
instruments, the Group currently is not engaged in hedging of foreign currency risk.

(ii) Interest rate risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible,
that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a
financial asset quickly at close to its fair value. A major portion of the Group’s funds are invested in cash and cash equivalents
which are readily available to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Under
the Group’s interest rate management policy, interest rates on monetary assets and liabilities denominated in Bahraini Dinars,
Jordanian Dinars, and Kuwaiti Dinars are maintained on a floating rate basis. The average interest rate yield from bank deposits
and available-for-sale investments during 2012 was 0.94 % (2011: 0.8 %).
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of
netting agreements:
Non-derivative financial liabilities at 31
December 2012
Trade payable
Other payables
Amount due to telecommunications
operators
Loans and borrowings

Non-derivative financial liabilities at 31
December 2011
Trade payable
Other payables
Amount due to telecommunications
operators
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Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Within one
year

1-2
Years

More than
two years

27,918
2,336

27,918
2,336

25,889
2,336

1,353
-

676
-

12,852
18,473

12,852
20,231

12,852
4,513

2,585

13,133

61,579

63,337

45,590

3,938

13,809

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Within one
year

1-2
years

More than
two years

23,270
2,074

23,270
2,074

20,715
2,074

582
-

1,973
-

14,167

14,167

14,167

-

-

39,511

39,511

36,956

582

1,973

2012

2011

-

41

81,377
18,473

87,982
-

Fixed rate instruments
Financial liabilities
Variable rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss. Therefore a
change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect the profit or loss. Increase or decrease in equity resulting from
variation in interest rates will be insignificant.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss
by BD 629 (2011: BD 880). This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(iii) Other market price risk
The primary goal of the Group’s investment strategy is to ensure risk free returns and invest surplus fund available with the
Group in risk free securities. Market price risk arises from available-for-sale investment held by the Group. The Group Treasury
Function monitors its investment portfolio based on market expectations and credit worthiness of the underlying investees.
Material investments within the portfolio are managed on an individual basis and all buy and sell decisions are approved by the
Company’s Board of Directors.
The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measures:

•
•
•

BD’000

for the year ended 31 December 2012

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. There were
no significant changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
e) Classification of financial instruments
Classification of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts as disclosed in the statement of financial
position, are as follows:

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.
Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
This category includes instruments valued using; quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted
prices for identical or similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered
less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market
data.
Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where the
valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect
on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar
instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the
instruments.

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of 31 December 2012, by the level in the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized:
2012

2011

30,391

11,684

31 December 2012
Available-for-sale investments
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Unbilled revenue
Cash and bank balances

Trade payable
Other payables
Amounts due to
telecommunications operators
Loans and borrowings

Loans and
receivables

Availablefor-sale

Others at
amortised
cost

Total
carrying
amount

51,809
57,093
2,044
94,922

35,410
-

-

35,410
51,809
57,093
2,044
94,922

205,868

35,410

-

241,278

-

-

27,918
2,336

27,918
2,336

-

-

12,852
18,473

12,852
18,473

-

-

61,579

61,579

Loans and
receivables

Availablefor-sale

Others at
amortised
cost

Total
carrying
amount

49,987
12,497
1,435
107,893

16,703
-

-

16,703
49,987
12,497
1,435
107,893

171,812

16,703

-

188,515

-

-

23,270
2,074

23,270
2,074

-

-

14,167
-

14,167
-

-

-

39,511

39,511

Available-for-sale investments
Investment securities fair valued at level 1

31 December 2011

(iv) Other price risk
Other investments include AFS investments. These investments carried at cost are exposed to risk of changes in market
values. Refer to note 3 h) for accounting policies on valuation of AFS investments and note 3 k) for significant estimates and
judgements in relation to impairment assessment of AFS investments. The Group manages exposure to other price risks by
actively monitoring the performance of the investments. The performance assessment is performed on an annual basis and is
reported to the Board of Directors.
d) Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain
future development of the Group. The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns and growth that might be
possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. The Board of
Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as total equity and the level of dividends to shareholders. The
Group’s objectives for managing capital are:

•
•

60

to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders; and

Available-for-sale investments
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Unbilled revenue
Cash and bank balances

Trade payable
Other payables
Amounts due to
telecommunications operators
Loans and borrowings

With the exception of available-for-sale investments carried at cost less impairment allowances, the fair values of the Group’s
assets and liabilities closely approximate the carrying value.

to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.
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5 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

6 GOODWILL (continued)

Land and
buildings

Network
assets &
telecom
equipment

Motor vehicles,
furniture, fittings &
office equipment

(iii) The above estimates were tested by the Group for sensitivity in the following areas:
Assets under
construction

Total
2012

Total
2011

Cost
At 1 January
Additions
Projects completed
Disposals

71,126
2,606
80
(4,196)

398,565
16,099
22,816
(36,362)

35,335
1,030
1,247
(1,297)

24,935
11,514
(19,749)
-

529,961
31,249
4,394
(41,855)

522,636
26,634
3,574
(22,883)

At 31 December

69,616

401,118

36,315

16,700

523,749

529,961

Depreciation
At 1 January
Charge for the year
Disposals

46,642
845
-

269,168
27,206
(36,465)

29,132
2,663
(1,307)

-

344,942
30,714
(37,772)

331,162
33,462
(19,682)

At 31 December

47,487

259,909

30,488

-

337,884

344,942

Net book value
At 31 December 2012

22,129

141,209

5,827

16,700

185,865

At 31 December 2011

24,484

129,397

6,203

24,935

185,019

185,019

•
•
•
•

An increase / decrease in the discount rate and the long term growth rates used
A change in market share
A decrease in future planned revenues and EBITDA margins
An increase in capex to sales ratio forecasts

The results of the sensitivity testing revealed that the value in use calculations is sensitive to the above changes, although these
did not result in a materially significant change in the carrying value of the goodwill and related assets.

7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost
At 1 January
Additions during the year
Disposals during the year
At 31 December

Land and buildings include certain property at Hamala, Kingdom of Bahrain with a carrying value of BD 56 (2011: BD 56) held
as investment property for earning rentals or capital appreciation. The fair value of the property as at 31 December 2012 was
BD 10,060 (2011: BD 10,060). The fair value of the property was determined by a registered independent appraiser having an
appropriate recognised professional qualification and experience in the location and category of the property being valued. Fair
values were determined having regard to recent market transactions for similar properties as the Company’s property.
For a list of properties owned and rented by the Company, please refer to note 28.

2012

2011

67,969
32,368
(249)

68,305
464
(800)

100,088

67,969

Amortisation
At 1 January
Charge for the year
Disposals during the year
At 31 December

43,661
5,659
(112)
49,208

39,901
4,523
(763)
43,661

Net book value at 31 December

50,880

24,308

2012

2011

2011

Cost
At 1 January
Exchange rate adjustments

124,682
(305)

125,129
(447)

At 31 December

124,377

124,682

a) Analysis of Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in business combination is allocated to “Jordan” for the purposes of segment reporting.

At 1 January
Receipts from associates
Share of profit/(loss) (net)
Share of currency translation (loss)/gain
Investment classified as held for sale investment (Note 9)

78,580
(2,762)
1,599
-

130,124
(1,930)
(3,124)
(17)
(46,473)

At 31 December

77,417

78,580

2012*

2011

The summarized aggregate financial information of the associates is as follows:

b) Impairment of Goodwill

(i) The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually, or more frequently if there are any indications that impairment may have
arisen. The recoverable amount of a Cash Generating Unit is determined based on the higher of fair values less costs to sell and
value-in-use calculations. Fair values less costs to sell are estimated by using the capitalised earnings approach and comparing
the same with those of other telecom companies within the region.
(ii) The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations are those relating to discount rates, the long term growth rates,
penetration and market share assumptions, average revenues per user, earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA”) and capital expenditure to sales ratio. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management, covering the period of the validity of the telecom license. Cash flows are extrapolated
using the estimated growth rates. The weighted average growth rates are consistent with forecasts. No impairment losses were
recognised in 2012 (2011: BD Nil).
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Assets
Liabilities
Revenues
Profit/(loss)

150,747
126,349
82,610
7,499

132,814
115,915
70,663
(9,123)

* Unaudited and as of 30 November 2012.
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9 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

a) Current
Debt securities
b) Non-current
Debt securities
Equity securities
Less impairment allowance

10 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
2012

2011

3,770

-

2,546
79,593
(50,499)

6,316
14,413
(4,026)

31,640

16,703

35,410

16,703

During the previous year, the Group reclassified its investment in STEL Private Limited (“STEL”) as held-for-sale following the
Board of Directors earlier decision to actively pursue the sale of the investment. BMIC Limited (“BMIC”) had a binding agreement
to sell its investment in STEL by quarter ending 31 December 2012 to the other promoters of STEL (“counterparty”). However,
the counterparty did not settle its obligation by the stipulated date. The Group commenced litigation against the counter party
in the UK High Court of Justice, Commercial Court for the recovery of BD 69.7 ($184.8) million due and owing by them to BMIC,
under a Settlement Agreement between the parties. This substantially impacted the conclusion of the sale transaction and the
settlement was delayed beyond the control of the Group. The Group expects a favourable settlement based upon the strong
evidence supporting BMIC’s case.
Accordingly, as the share sale was not concluded within 12 months, the investment in STEL was reclassified as held for use during
the year. Given the revocation of 2G licenses in 2012 and closing of operations, the carrying value of investment is considered
fully impaired and the loss has been offset by a contractual claim against the counterparty which has been recognized as a
receivable.
Available-for-sale equity securities also include BD 30,391 (2011: BD 11,684) representing market value of an equity investment in
Etihad Atheeb Telecommunications Company (“the investee”). There is a five year lock in period starting from April 2009.

10 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2012
Trade receivables
Less impairment allowance
Unbilled revenue
Prepaid expenses and other receivables

2011

67,533
(15,724)

66,294
(16,307)

51,809

49,987

2,044
61,716

1,435
20,340

115,569

71,762

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of counterparty was as follows:

Customers’ accounts
Telecommunications operators

2012

2011

38,506
13,303

36,500
13,487

51,809

49,987

Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not
past due. The aging of past due trade receivables at the reporting date was as follows:
2012

2011

Not yet due
Overdue:
- Up to 90 days
- 91-180 days
- More than 180 days

20,671

20,733

16,007
7,693
23,162

18,298
6,688
20,575

Gross trade receivables
Impairment provision

67,533
(15,724)

66,294
(16,307)

Net trade receivables

51,809

49,987

2012

2011

At 1 January
Impairment loss recognized during the year
Written off during the year

16,307
2,227
(2,810)

16,174
3,413
(3,280)

At 31 December

15,724

16,307

2012

2011

Cash in hand
Cash at bank

87
94,835

119
107,774

Cash and bank balances

94,922

107,893

The movement in the allowance for impairment was as follows:

11 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances include BD 2,755 (2011: BD 2,798) on account of unclaimed dividends and short-term deposits with
maturities exceeding three months. These have been excluded for the purposes of statement of cash flows.

12 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payable
Amounts due to telecommunications operators
Provisions, accrued expenses and other payables (note 13)
Customer deposits and billings in advance
Current tax liability
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2012

2011

27,918
12,852
79,640
23,254
3,416

23,270
14,167
71,638
22,535
4,813

147,080

136,423

2012

2011

145,051
2,029

133,868
2,555

147,080

136,423

Trade and other payables are classified as follows:

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
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13 PROVISIONS

BD’000

for the year ended 31 December 2012

16 SHARE CAPITAL

Included within provisions and accrued expenses are amounts provided for employee redundancy programme benefits,
restructuring and donations. The movement in provisions is as follows:
Provision for employee
redundancy/restructuring
program

At 1 January
Amounts provided during the year
Amounts paid during the year
At 31 December

Provision for
donations

2012

2011

2012

2011

420
15,075
(7,169)

2,100
3,407
(5,087)

2,405
2,000
(1,667)

2,353
2,169
(2,117)

2,738

2,405

8,326

420

2012

2011

a) Authorised: 2,000 (2011: 2,000) million shares of 100 fils each

200,000

200,000

b) Issued and fully paid: 1,440 (2011: 1,440) million shares of 100 fils each

144,000

144,000

-

The Company has only one class of equity shares and the holders of these shares have equal voting rights.

-

Names and nationalities of the major shareholders and the number of equity shares held in which they have an interest of
5 % or more of outstanding shares are as follows:

Name
Restructuring
During the year, the Company committed to a plan to restructure the Bahrain operations due to changes in economic environment.
The plan was approved by the Board of Directors of the Company and the implementation was started in 2012. Accordingly, the
Company recognised a provision of BD 12.1 million (BD 4.4 million for 2012 and BD 7.7 million for 2013) for expected restructuring
costs relating to employees. The Company paid BD 3.8 million relating to 2012 provision during the year.

Bahrain Mumtalakat Holding Company BSC (c)
Amber Holdings Limited
Social Insurance Organisation
-

Intangible assets
Aggregate temporary differences mainly on expenses

Categories

2012
Asset

2012
Liability

2011
Asset

2011
Liability

2,298

3,634
-

2,018

4,193
-

2,298

3,634

2,018

4,193

b) Non-current
Banque Saudi Franci

2012

2011

2,213
1,872

-

4,085

-

14,388

-

14,388

-

18,473

-

In order to finance the Company’s subscription of rights share issue of the investee company, the Company obtained a long term
loan of BD 17.7 million during the year. The loan bears an interest at a rate of SAIBOR + 1.75 % margin per annum. The tenor of
loan is 8 years. The Company has settled BD 1.1 million of the original loan amount as at 31 December 2012.
On 23 May 2012, Umniah Mobile Company PSC (“Umniah”) obtained a short-term loan in the amount of BD 9.8 million from Arab
Banking Corporation (B.S.C.). The purpose of this loan is to finance the general business purposes of Umniah. The loan tenor is
for a 12 month period with the option of extending for another 12 month term. The loan bears interest at a rate of LIBOR + 1.6 %
margin per annum for the first year and LIBOR + 1.75 % margin per annum for the second year. Umniah has settled BD 7.9 million
of the original loan amount as of 31 December 2012.
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Bahrain
Cayman Islands
Bahrain

528,000
288,000
296,098

37
20
21

Number of
shares
Number of
(thousands) shareholders

% of total
outstanding
shares

Less than 1 %
1 % up to less than 5 %
5 % up to less than 10 %
10 % up to less than 20 %
20 % up to less than 50 %

232,912
94,990
1,112,098

11,057
3
3

16
6
78

1,440,000

11,063

100

17 STATUTORY AND GENERAL RESERVE

15 LOANS AND BORROWINGS

a) Current
Banque Saudi Franci
Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

% of share
holding

Distribution schedule of equity shares:

14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET AND LIABILITY
The deferred tax asset and liability is attributable to the following items relating to Jordan:

Nationality

Number of
shares
(thousands)

a) Statutory reserve
The Bahrain Commercial Companies Law 2001 requires all companies incorporated in Bahrain to transfer 10 % of net profit
for the year to a statutory reserve, until such reserve reaches a minimum of 50 % of the paid-up capital. The reserve is not
available for distribution, except in the circumstances stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law 2001. Transfer to
statutory reserve, effected by the subsidiaries in accordance with the applicable law of the country of incorporation, is retained
in the subsidiary concerned, and is not available for distribution except in circumstances stipulated by the law in the respective
country of incorporation.
b) General reserve
The general reserve is distributable only upon a resolution of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. Transfer of BD
9.4 million (2011: BD 15.0 million) was made during the year 2012. The shareholders of the Company in their meeting held on 22
February 2012 approved transfer to general reserve of BD 8.0 million and the shareholders of Umniah in their meeting held on
15 February 2012 approved transfer to general reserve of BD 1.5 million of which Group’s share was BD 1.4 million.

18 DIVIDENDS
The dividends paid in 2012 and 2011 were BD 50.4 million (35 Fils per share) and BD 64.8 million (45 Fils per share)
respectively. The dividends paid in 2012 include an amount of BD 28.8 million relating to the final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2011 and interim dividend of BD 21.6 million in the year 2012. A final dividend in respect of the year ended
31 December 2012 of 10 Fils per share, amounting to BD 14.4 million was proposed by the Board of Directors and is to be put
forward for approval at the Annual General Meeting on 25 February 2013. These financial statements do not reflect this final
dividend payable.
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19 REVENUE

24 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Mobile telecommunications services
Data communication circuits
Internet
Wholesale
Fixed line telecommunication services
Others

2012

2011

128,662
54,036
36,410
35,729
22,542
27,331

150,855
55,271
38,124
37,352
27,974
17,396

304,710

326,972

a) Guarantees

(i) The Company has furnished a guarantee for BD 7.3 (2011: BD 27.1) million to a bank for extending credit facilities to an investee
company in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
(ii) The Company has furnished guarantees amounting to BD 1.6 (2011: BD 1.6) million to suppliers on behalf of an investee company
in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia relating to the equipment supply contracts.
(iii) As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s banks have issued guarantees, amounting to BD 4.1 (2011: BD 7.8) million and letters of credit
amounting to BD 0.1 (2011: BD 0.3) million.
(iv) The Company has furnished a comfort letter for BD 1.9 (2011: BD 1.9) million to Telecommunications Regulatory Commission,
Jordan for providing a financial guarantee for the subsidiary companies operating in Jordan.

20 NETWORK OPERATING EXPENSES

Outpayments to telecommunications operators
Operating lease rentals
Cost of sales of equipment and services
Licence fee
Repair and maintenance

BD’000

2012

2011

37,250
30,816
26,769
7,586
14,345

43,462
34,708
18,968
7,975
10,704

116,766

115,817

b) Operating leases
The Group enters in to cancellable and non-cancellable operating lease agreements in the normal course of business, which are
principally in respect of property and equipment. Non-cancellable operating lease commitments are as follows:

Future minimum lease payments
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years

21 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
2012

2011

14,576
2,227
9,907

13,311
3,413
17,479

26,710

34,203

2012

2011

291
407

941
432

698

1,373

c) Staff housing loans
Marketing, advertising and publicity
Impairment allowances
Other expenses

d) Foreign currency facilities

22 FINANCE AND OTHER INCOME

Rental income
Interest income
Others

The Company currently has foreign currency facilities from commercial banks totalling approximately BD 9.4 (2011: BD 9.4)
million. At 31 December 2012, the Group has utilised BD Nil (2011: BD Nil) of the foreign currency facilities.

2012

2011

274
849
1,440

294
750
2,213

e) Commitments

2,563

3,257

f)

The Group has capital commitments at 31 December 2012 amounting to BD 3.2 (2011: BD 17.0) million.
Contingent liabilities
The Group is involved in certain matters relating to notifications from regulatory authorities and government tax departments
of claims and other notices amounting to BD 5.5 (2011: BD 5.5) million. The Group is of the view that there are no legitimate legal
grounds for such claims and notices, and all necessary legal steps to respond to and defend its position are being taken.

23 EARNINGS PER SHARE (“EPS”)

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
during the year (in thousands)
Basic earnings per share (Fils)

The Company provides loans to its Bahraini employees for the acquisition of residential properties. The loans are funded
through a local commercial bank and secured by a guarantee issued by the Company. The policy of providing staff housing
loan guarantees was discontinued in 2007.The Company bears 75 % (2011: 75 %) of the loan interest. At 31 December 2012, the
Company has an outstanding guarantee of BD 2.0 (2011: BD 2.4) million towards housing loans to staff.

2012

2011

60,340

80,014

1,440,000
41.9

1,440,000
55.6

Diluted earnings per share has not been presented as the Group has no commitments that would dilute earnings per share.
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25 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

27 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s contributions in respect of local employees against their pension rights and other social benefits amounted to BD
3.8 (2011: BD 3.5) million. The provision for leaving indemnity in respect of expatriate employees amounted to BD 2.8 (2011:
BD 2.5) million and is included under provisions and accrued expenses.

Operating segments
The Group’s operations are segregated between Bahrain, Jordan and Other countries. Other countries include Kuwait, Yemen,
Egypt and India. Segment information disclosed for the year ended 31 December 2012 is as follows:

26 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
(i) The Company qualifies as a government related entity under the definitions provided in the Revised IAS 24. The Company
provides telecommunication services to various Government and semi government organisation and companies in the Kingdom
of Bahrain. The Company also avails various services from Government and semi government organisation and companies in the
Kingdom of Bahrain. Such transactions are in the normal course of business and are not considered to be material.
(ii) Transactions with key management personnel: Key management personnel of the Group comprise of the Board of Directors
and key members of management having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of
the Group.
The key management personnel compensation is as follows
2012

2011

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

2,658
64

2,540
64

Total key management personnel compensation

2,722

2,604

2012

2011

Post employment benefits due

187

182

Directors remuneration (including sitting fees)

510

601

(iii) Transactions with associates are disclosed under note 8.
(iv) Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company at the end of the year were as follows:

Total number of shares held by Directors
As a percentage of the total number of shares issued

2012

2011

4,005,308

3,878,361

0.28 %

0.27 %

Segment
revenue
& profit
Revenue
(external
customers)
Inter segment
revenues
Finance and
other income
Depreciation and
amortisation
Interest expense
Share of profit/
(loss) of
associates (net)
Profit/(loss)
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Year ended 31 December 2011

Inter Other
segment
Bahrain Jordan countries elimination

Inter
Other
segment
Bahrain Jordan countries elimination

-

Total

178,846

92,706

33,158

6,671

21,263

1,271

(29,205)

-

5,086

113

195

(2,831)

2,563

20,102

14,318

1,953

-

36,373

370

277

-

-

647

-

-

1,599

-

1,599

45,764

9,816

9,763

-

65,343

Segment
assets &
liabilities

Total

304,710
202,877

88,866

35,229

9,510

18,319

1,259

(29,088)

-

5,810

146

13

(2,712)

3,257

23,546
-

12,466
262

1,973
-

-

37,985
262

67,833

13,587

(3,124)
2,435

-

(3,124)
83,855

-

326,972

As at 31 December 2011

As at 31 December 2012
Inter Other
segment
Bahrain Jordan countries elimination

Total

Inter
Other -segment
Bahrain Jordan countries elimination

Total

Non-current
assets
Current assets

150,929 232,152
149,907 16,535

89,396
71,243

472,477
(20,794) 216,891

138,672 199,231
154,517 12,405

93,407
73,003

- 431,310
(11,928) 227,997

Total assets

300,836 248,687

160,639

(20,794) 689,368

293,189 211,636

166,410

(11,928) 659,307

31,164

(18,442) 149,136

(8,740) 133,868

Current liabilities
Non-current
liabilities
Total liabilities
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96,142

40,272

17,901

5,663

114,043

45,935

31,164

-

82,695

35,736

24,177

20,051

3,513

6,748

-

(21,955) 169,187

86,208

42,484

24,177

(3,513)

(3,513)

6,748

(12,253) 140,616
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28 LIST OF PROPERTIES OWNED AND RENTED BY THE COMPANY
Description

Usage

a) Statement of financial position
Owned/Rented

2012

2011

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in associate
Available-for-sale investments

114,614
4,674
232,559
82,226
31,640

119,742
2,228
232,148
82,226
16,703

Total non-current assets

465,713

453,047

340
3,770
58,601
23,712
73,890

443
54,845
90,215

Hamala Headquarter

Offices

Owned

Diplomat Building

Offices & Telecoms

Owned

Telephone House

Offices & Telecoms

Owned

Telegraph House

Offices & Telecoms

Owned

Batelco Commercial Centre

Offices & Exchanges

Owned

Earth Station

Satellite Station

Owned

Hamala Transmitters

Transmission Station

Owned

Abul Land Car Park

Car Park

Owned

Eid Mosque Car Park

Car Park

Rented

Salmaniya Car Park (Telephone House)

Car Park

Rented

Sales Site (in BCC)

Customer Service Centre & Offices

Owned

19 Sales Site

Customer Service Centre

Rented

Current assets
Inventories
Available-for-sale investments
Trade and other receivables
Loan to subsidiary company
Cash and bank balances

67 different sites used for GSM base stations and exchanges

GSM & fixed telephone network

Owned

Total current assets

160,313

145,503

242 different sites used for locating Remote Line Units (RLUs) Plus MNE Sites. GSM & fixed telephone network

Rented

Total assets

626,026

598,550

Equity
Share capital
Statutory reserve
General reserve
Investment fair value reserve
Retained earnings

144,000
72,000
38,000
(2,403)
263,810

144,000
72,000
30,000
(3,397)
243,073

Total equity

515,407

485,676

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings

14,388

-

Total non-current liabilities

14,388

-

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings

94,018
2,213

112,874
-

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Total current liabilities
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96,231

112,874

Total liabilities

110,619

112,874

Total equity and liabilities

626,026

598,550
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b) Statement of comprehensive income

REVENUE
EXPENSES
Network operating expenses
Staff costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Other operating expenses
Total expenses

2012

2011

185,516

212,386

(69,050)
(47,031)
(20,060)
(9,933)

(69,211)
(39,065)
(23,533)
(18,507)

(146,074)

(150,316)

Results from operating activities
Finance and other income
Finance expenses

39,442
42,065
(370)

62,070
11,487
-

Profit for the year

81,137

73,557

Other comprehensive income
Investment fair value changes

994

(11,607)

Other comprehensive income for the year

994

(11,607)

Total comprehensive income for the year
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82,131

We are working hard to support
organic growth whilst continuing
to identify opportunities to acquire
new cash generative businesses
with a strong and growing base of
customers.

61,950
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